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ORDER OF APPOINTMENT
(Extract from the Minutes of Proceedings of the Senate for 20th March, 1950.)

On motion of the Honourable Senator Roebuck, seconded by the Honour
able Senator Kinley, it was—

Ordered, That a Special Comittee be appointed to consider and report on 
the subject of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, what they are and 
how they may be protected and preserved, and what action, if any, can or should 
be taken to assure such rights to all persons in Canada, and that for greater 
certainty, but not so as to restrict the generality of the foregoing, that the 
Committee give consideration to the following draft articles:

Article 1
Everyone has the right to life, liberty, and the security of person.

Article 2
No one shall be held in slavery or servitude; slavery and the slave trade 

shall be prohibited in all their forms.

Article 8
No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading 

treatment or punishment.
Article It

Everyone has the right to recognition throughout Canada as a person before 
the law.

Article 5
All are equal before the law and are entitled without any discrimination to 

equal protection of the law.

Article 6
Everyone has the right to an effective remedy by the competent national 

tribunals for acts violating the fundamental rights granted him by the Constitu
tion or by law.

Article 7
(1) No person shall be subjected to arbitrary arrest, detention or exile.
(2) Any person who is arrested or detained shall be promptly informed of 

the reasons for the arrest or detention and be entitled to a fair hearing within 
a reasonable time or to release.

(3) No one shall be denied the right to reasonable bail without just cause.

Article 8
Every person who is deprived, of his liberty by arrest or detention shall 

have an effective remedy in the nature of habeas corpus by which the lawful
ness of his detention shall be decided speedily by a Court and his release ordered 
if the detention is not lawful.
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Article 9
Everyone is entitled in full equality to a fair and public hearing by an 

independent and impartial tribunal, in the determination of his rights and 
obligations and of any criminal charge against him.

Article 10
(1) Everyone charged with a penal offence has the right to be presumed 

innocent until proved guilty according to law in a public trial at which he has 
had all the guarantees necessary for his defence.

(2) No one shall be held guilty of any penal offence on account of any act 
or omission which did not constitute a penal offence under national or inter
national law, at the time when it was committed. Nor shall a heavier penalty 
be imposed than the one that was applicable at the time the penal offence was 
committed.

Article 11
No one shall be subjected to arbitrary interference with his privacy, family, 

home or correspondence, nor to attacks upon his honour and reputation. Every
one has the right to the protection of the law against such interference or attacks.

Article 12
Everyone legally resident in Canada has the right to freedom of movement 

and residence within the country, and the right to leave and return to Canada.

Article 13
(1) Men and women of adult age, without any. limitation due to race, 

nationality or religion, have the right to marry and to found a family. They 
are entitled to equal rights as to marriage and during marriage.

(2) Marriages shall be entered into only with the free and full consent of 
the intending spouses.

(3) The family is the natural and fundamental group unit of society and 
is entitled to protection by society and state.

Article H
(1) Everyone has the right to own property alone as well as in association 

with others.
(2) No one shall be arbitrarily deprived of his property.

Article 15
Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion; this 

right includes freedom to change his religion or belief, and freedom, either alone 
or in community with others, and in public or private, to manifest his religion 
or belief in teaching, practice, worship and observance.

Article 16
Everyone has the right to freedom of opinion and expression ; this right 

includes freedom to hold opinions without interference and to seek, receive and 
impart information and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers. 
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Article 17
(1) Everyone has the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and association.
(2) No one may be compelled to belong to an association.

Article 18
(1) Everyone has the right to take part in the Government of the country, 

directly or through freely chosen representatives.
(2) Every one has the right of equal access to publis service in the country.
(3) The will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of Govern

ment; this will shall be expressed in periodic and genuine election which shall 
be by universal and equal suffrage and shall be held by secret vote.

149. Every person is entitled to all the rights and freedoms herein set forth 
without distinction of any kind such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, 
political, or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other 
status.

150. Any person whose rights or freedoms as herein set forth have been 
violated may apply for relief on notice of motion to the Supreme or Superior 
Court of the province in which the violation occurred.

151. The above articles shall not be deemed to abridge or exclude any rights 
or freedoms to which any person is otherwise entitled.

That the said Committee be composed of the Honourable Senators Baird, 
David, Davies, Doone, Dupuis, Gladstone, Gouin, Grant, Kinley, Petten, Reid, 
Roebuck, Ross, Turgeon, Vaillancourt and Wood;

That the said Committee shall have authority to send for persons, papers 
and records.

Attest : L. C. Moyer, 
Clerk of the Senate.



MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Friday, 28 April, 1950.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice, the Special Committee appointed to 
consider and report upon the subject of Human Rights and Fundamental Free
doms met this day at 10.30 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Roebuck, Chairman; Baird, Grant, 
Kinley, Petten, Reid.—6.

The official reporters of the Senate were in attendance.
Dr. R. S. K. Seeley, Provost of Trinity College, University of Toronto, Dr. 

E. A. Corbett, Director, Canadian Association of Adult Education, Mr. F. P. 
Varcoe, Deputy Minister of Justice, and Mr. J. M. Magwood, Chairman, National 
Young Adult Program Committee, YMCA, were present.

Mr. Magwood read a letter to the Committee, and Messrs-. Seeley, Corbett 
and Varcoe, the last two of whom were briefly questioned by Members of the 
Committee, presented briefs.

At one p.m. the Committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 2, 1950, at 
10.30 a.m.

Attest

J. H. JOHNSTONE,
Clerk of the Committee.
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MINUTES OF EVIDENCE
The Senate

Ottawa, Friday, April 28, 1950.

The special committee appointed to consider and report on the subject of 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms met this day at 10.30 a.m.

Hon. Mr. Roebuck in the Chair.
The Chairman: Gentlemen, I think we are ready to proceed. Before we 

call our first witness, I may say that I have two telegrams protesting against the 
use of the padlock law in Quebec. One is from Dr. James G. Endicott, Chairman 
of the Canadian Peace Congress, and the other is from Dr. David Rigby, 
Executive Secretary of the Montreal Peace Council.

Hon. Mr. Reid: What law are they protesting against?
The Chairman: The padlock law.
Hon. Mr. Baird: Is Dr. Endicott a Toronto man?
The Chairman : His wire comes from Toronto, but he vigorously protests 

against the enforcement of the padlock in some special instance.
We have present with us this morning Mr. F. P. Varcoe, K.C., Deputy 

Minister of Justice for Canada ; the Reverend R. S. K. Seeley, D.D., LL.D., 
Provost of Trinity College, Üniversity of Toronto, and President of the Civil 
Liberties Association, of Toronto, and Dr. E. A. Corbett, of the Canadian Asso
ciation for Adult Education. We also expect to have a brief to be presented on 
behalf of the Young Men’s Christian Association by Mr. John M. Magwood, 
who at present is not here. That is the program for the morning. I understand 
that Mr. Varcoe is desirous of getting away to his work as soon as possible, and 
if it is agreable to the committee and to the other witnesses I will call upon 
Mr. Varcoe to proceed first.

Mr. F. P. Varcoe, K.C., Deputy Minister of Justice: Mr. Chairman, I 
appreciate the compliment that this committee does me in asking me to come 
here in connection with this important reference. At the same time, I should 
remind you that my functions are purely legal, as legal adviser to the govern
ment, and that means of course that I must confine my remarks to matters of 
law and not deal with matters of policy. I was looking at the terms of reference 
and I noticed that you really have three things to consider. The motion appoint
ing the committee authorizes it to consider and report on the subject of human 
rights and fundamental freedoms, firstly, what they are; secondly, how they may 
be protected and preserved; and, thirdly, what action, if any, can or should be 
taken to assure such rights to all persons in Canada. Then there is an enumera
tion of particular rights and freedoms. So you have these three aspects of the 
problem to consider: (1) what the human rights and fundamental freedoms are; 
(2) how they may be protected and preserved, and (3) what action, if any, can 
or should be taken to assure such rights1 to all persons in Canada.

No. 3, as I understand it, relates to policy, and it is outside my function, as 
legal adviser to the government, to advise on this. As to No. 1, what the human 
rights and fundamental freedoms are, I do not intend to enumerate any. but 
shall confine myself to indicating what kind of things they are, from a legal 
point of view.
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A preface is necessary, in this connection, before considering what is the 
nature of human rights and fundamental freedoms. The keystone of the arch 
of the free system of Western democracy is the rule of law, and the essentials 
for present purposes about the rule of law are that under our system a person

(1) has a legal remedy enforceable by means of impartial courts of
justice and law;

(2) may do any act which is not prohibited by law.
This division of the principle of the rule of law into two aspects will be 

more significant as I proceed. In discussing the nature of human rights and 
fundamental freedoms, it is essential to realize that the rights are things that 
are enforceable, thus excluding mere generalities such as freedom from want, 
freedom from fear, freedom of conscience and freedom of thought.

A right is enforceable by judicial process and therefore connotes a duty 
on another person or the state to implement the right.

The Chairman : May I take it, Mr. Varcoe, that you are speaking of the 
legal definition of rights or the use which lawyers make of that particular term, 
“rights”?

Mr. Varcoe : Yes.
The Chairman: And that is the meaning that you propose to attach to it 

in your remarks?
Mr. Varcoe : That is correct, Mr. Chairman, and I am obliged to you for 

that interjection, because I had not made that clear.
As I was saying, a right is enforceable by judicial process and therefore 

connotes a duty on another person or the state to implement the right. If a 
person, for example, has a right to education, there is a corresponding duty 
upon the state to provide it and legal procedure to enforce it. The right to own 
property, the right to work, if this were to be provided by law, the right to 
security, such as old age pensions, family allowances, etc., fall in this category. 
So also do such rights as the right to a fair and public trial, the right of an 
imprisoned person to question the legaltv of his imprisonment by writ of habeas 
corpus. From a legal point of view, there is little to discuss about them. You 
simply determine what rights persons should have, then you enact the necessary 
statutes by the proper federal or provincial legislature.

Incidentally, most of these rights fall in the provincial field—education, 
conditions of employment, social security, and so on. These are primarily 
provincial matters.

Fundamental freedoms, on the other hand, from a practical point of view 
at least, arc things of a somewhat different order. Everyone is under our system 
free to do any act not prohibited by law. Whereas each human right requires 
a statute to be enacted to create it, each freedom depends on the absence of any 
statute restraining the individual.

It is true that a freedom calls for a statute to protect it, but taking a 
practical and not necessarily a philosophical view of the matter, a freedom is an 
essentially different thing from a right in this respect. It is true that the 
individual enjoying a freedom may be given a statutory right to enforce it, but 
the right does not stem from the statute but exists by reason of our legal system 
which permits an individual to do what he pleases within the law. For example, 
we have the right of free speech. This is not a creature of statute but is protected 
and to some extent restricted by statute.

Looking at the enumeration contained in the terms of reference, you will 
see that to a very large extent they concern freedoms, rather than rights as I 
have distinguished them. They are to a considerable degree particularized 
statements of the principle that a person is free to do what is not prohibited.
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The Chairman: Would you call the right of free speech a common law 
right.

Mr. Varcoe: Yes sir.
Continuing with the first of the three branches of your reference, it is a 

very good thing to particularize the rights and freedoms for this reason that 
freedom is exercisable only by the performance of an overt act. The legal 
system is concerned only with such acts. For example, one might generalize to 
this effect that all the. so-called freedoms can be brought under three heads, 
freedom of the person, freedom of communication (which would include speech, 
press, association, etc. I and freedom of religion. But when you come, for 
example, to particular forms of communication you find that quite different 
restrictions are necessary. A witness in a court room, for example, is not free 
to speak anything but the truth. A person riding on a bus is not free to make 
a speech, a person utilizing the postal service is not free to send communications 
designed to defraud, and so on. Members of Parliament are restricted by the 
rules of the House. Principles that would govern speakers at a public meeting 
are not the same as those necessary where the speech is by radio.

Under our federal system, it is particularly important that we consider the 
subject bv reference to overt acts for the reason that one act may fall to be 
regulated or protected under provincial law, while another is in the federal field. 
Postal and radio regulations are examples of the federal jurisdiction in relation 
to freedom of speech.

In addition, it is to be borne in mind that under our system a single overt 
act may fall in one aspect in the provincial field and in another aspect in the 
federal field. Libel is a good example of that, having both civil and criminal 
aspects. ,

Now turning to the second branch of your reference, how may the rights 
and freedoms be protected. As regards the rights, as I have indicated, they 
are created by statute and enforceable by legal process. Nothing more need 
be said about them under this head from a legal point of view.

As regards the freedoms, today they are concerned with freedom of the 
individual as against the state represented by legislature or administrator. 
Their great protector is, of course, public opinion, but that may be deemed to 
be, or in fact be, inadequate where a minority is oppressed by a majority. 
One method of protecting the preserving freedom as between citizens and the 
state is to am: nd our constitution so as to put it beyond the power of govern
ment or legislature to make laws or enforce laws which deprive persons of their 
freedoms.

Much discussion has taken place in this country on the question as to the 
desirability of enacting a bill of rights. Without taking sides in this contro
versy, I thought it might be useful if 1 stated very briefly the pros and cons 
of the controversy as I see it.

For the contrary it is urged that in a parliamentary system, the essential 
characteristic of which is that Parliament is sovereign, and in the provinces 
the legislatures, if you impose a bill of rights on the legislature to that extent, 
you are diminishing its sovereignty.

It should perhaps be noted in this connection that we have not adopted the 
system of parliamentary sovereignty without exception. As Professor Scott 
has pointed out, there are several provisions in the B.N.A. Act which restrict 
the sovereignty of the legislature. Section 133 protects the use of the English 
and French languages to a certain extent. Section 93 preserves the rights of 
religious minorities to education. Another section requires a new Parliament to 
be elected every five years. Sections 53 and 54 require that parliament have 
control of money bills.

The Chairman: Annual parliaments are provided for in the act, are they
not?
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Mr. Varcoe: Yes.
The Chairman: And annual meetings of the house?
Mr. Varcoe: Yes, sir.
However, these are very limited qualifications and do not, in my opinion, 

alter the principle that our system of government is based on the sovereignty of 
Parliament and the legislatures. The Privy Council has over and over again 
stated that the whole field of legislative power is assigned to Parliament and 
the legislatures.

A second objection which is made to a bill of rights is that problems which 
are essentially political in their nature become legal. In the United States, for 
example, under the provision of the Bill of Rights protecting religious freedom 
many cases have gone to the courts to test the legality of provisions requiring 
school children to salute the flag. Some religious groups have objected to this 
law with the result that several cases have reached the Supreme Court of the 
United States with quite different results on two occasions. In the latest the 
law was held bad and Mr. Justice Jackson said:—

If there is any fixed star in our constitutional constellation, it is that 
no official, high or low, can prescribe what shall be orthodox in politics, 
nationalism, religion or other matters of opinion, or force citizens to 
confess by word or act their faith therein.

The transfer of the public controversy from the hustings to the court house is 
thought by some to be objectionable.

A third objection is that the powers of the courts are enhanced at the expense 
of the legislature. Almost every constitutional question coming before a court 
involves to some.extent the formation of an opinion by the judiciary and this 
is an exercise of legislative power. Exercise of quasi legislative power by an 
appointed body vdiose decision is final and cannot be vetoed is thought by some 
to be contrary to democratic principles.

The question has been asked by someone: “Will you trust legislators that 
you can dismiss, or judges that you cannot dismiss?”

On the other hand, in favour of a bill of rights it is argued that very great 
power indeed is vested in a government under the parliamentary system which 
now operates by means of strictly disciplined political parties, with the result 
that there is a tendency for the sovereignty of parliament to become the 
sovereignity of the executive. The functions of government have greatly changed 
in dimensions and quality. It is argued that this ever growing power of govern
ment calls for constitutional restriction.

Secondly, it is suggested that an adequate bill of rights might in some 
emergency preserve the unity of the nation. It was only at the conclusion of 
the civil war that the people of the United States extended their Bill of Rights 
to the state legislatures and government. A law preventing a government or 
legislature from exercising a power in relation to a right or freedom which might 
divide the nation might some day be useful.

A third argument in favour is that such a bill of rights would be a decla
ration of our political creed that the state is the servant not the master. The 
written word has greater sanctity than the unwritten. The admiration of the 
people of the United States for their constitution, I think, very largely centres 
in the bill of rights contained therein. The people of Canada respect the B.N.A. 
Act. They might come to vent rate it too if it contained a bill of rights with a 
consequential increase in social and political unity in the country.

In addition to a constitutional amendment, it has been suggested that 
Parliament itself could, under the head, Criminal Law, or perhaps under the 
residuary power to legislate for the peace, order and good government of Canada 
enact a law which as long as it stands unrepealed operates to protect the 
essential freedoms both in the federal and provincial field.
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In order to exemplify this view, I submit the following draft:—
(1) It is an offence, punishable as herein after provided, for any 

person wilfully to do any act which has the effect of obstructing or pre
venting
(a) the free exercise of religious worship by any person.
(b) The peaceable assembly of any persons.
(c) The printing or distribution by any person of a newspaper, magazine 

or other such publication.
(d) Any person from lawfully communicating by speech or writing with 

any other person
provided that it shall be a defence to any charge hereunder for the accused 
to established that the act complained of was lawfully done in the exercise 
of a right or the performance of a duty pursuant to a valid law in that behalf.

The Criminal Code Revision Commission which, in conjunction with a 
committee of eight or nine leading criminal lawyers, is now engaged in revising 
our sixty-year-old Criminal Code, has discovered a very large number of 
obsolete provisions. So far the Commission has been chiefly concerned with 
matters of form and other purely legalistic problems. I hope, however, that 
when the present phase of the Commission’s work is completed that it will be 
able to receive representations from any persons or bodies of persons who 
consider that new protective measures should be enacted in the Code to secure 
rights and freedoms.

The plan now is to prepare a bill and submit the same to Parliament and to 
the public for study. A special committee will, no doubt, be set up, possibly 
a joint committee of the two houses, and representations can be made to that 
committee.

Turning to the suggestion that we establish a civil rights branch to be 
administered by the Department of Justice, as has been done in the United 
States, I suggest that this requires careful consideration. The enforcement 
of the criminal law is, by the British North America Act, assigned to the 
provincial authorities. It is in this field probably that most complaints would 
arise, either on the ground that the criminal law is not being enforced or that 
it is being oppressively enforced. Receipt of complaints and their investigation 
by a federal department would mean, in effect, that the federal Department 
of Justice would to some extent undertake or supervise the criminal law 
enforcement.

Turning to some of the questions that you submitted in your letter to me: 
the first one was, what rights and freedoms do we now enjoy? I have not 
attempted to answer that, but I suggest that possibly it would be simpler to 
ask the question, what rights and freedoms do we not enjoy?

There is another question in your letter, No. 3, referring to jurisdiction. 
The Chairman: Both types of infonnation might be very useful, Mr. Varcoe. 

A statement of the liberties that we now possess is not to be discounted, because 
those liberties are very great, and we in Canada are very proud of them. We 
think that perhaps we have a greater measure of that kind of thing than 
any other nation on earth in actual practice and in workout.

Mr. Varcoe: Well, I do too, but I was thinking, sir, that possibly, if you 
enumerated those that you concluded we have not got, it might be a helpful 
approach. Let us start by saying that we have a very large measure of 
freedom. That is limited by the fact, let us say, that there are some freedoms 
that we have not got. Now what are those, and let us see if we can afford to 
acquire those rights and freedoms. In other words, let us see if we can extend 
the field. That was in my mind.

Well, then, you asked a question about the jurisdiction of the Supreme 
1 Court. I think ‘possibly I could answer that by saying that a year or so
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ago the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court was very considerably extended, 
particularly in the field of criminal law, and I do not know at the present time 
of any change that should be made to give the court wider jurisdiction.

The Chairman : Well, my question was this—I think I had better get 
it on the record : “There have been a number of comments about the limitation 
of the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Canada, and on two occasions 
witnesses have advocated that the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court be extended 
to cover violations of human rights and invasions of fundamental freedoms. 
Woud you tell the committee what are the limitations of the jurisdiction of 
the count to deal with cases involving such rights and freedoms? And could 
its jurisdiction be extended if you find that necessary?”

Mr. Vabcoe: Well, I think, sir, that the extension to which I referred 
has cleared up that problem. That was my impression. It was my intention 
at any rate.

The Chairman : The extension to which you refer, what was that?
Mr. Varcoe: I have not got the Act here.
The Chairman : In the recent amendments?
Mr. Varcoe: Yes. At the session before last there was an extension of 

the jurisdiction to permit, at any rate by leave of the court, appeals such as 
those which were rejected in the case of the Witnesses of Jehova on a prior 
occasion. So I think that that problem has been dealt with.

Now, the next question—I do not want to take up too much of your time—
The Chairman: We are all right, I think, in the matter of time, Mr. Varcoe.
Mr. Varcoe: I have dealt with the question about the civil rights branch 

of the Department of Justice. The fifth question was this: “In the Canadian 
Citizenship Act, the certificate of Canadian citizenship declares that the 
person naturalized is entitled to all rights, powers and privileges and subject 
to all obligations, duties and liabilities to which a natural-born Canadian 
citizen is entitled or subject. What are those rights and duties?”

Now the direct effect of the citizenship certificate is that it confers upon 
the holder the right of entry into Canada under the Immigration Act. Secondly, 
only a Canadian citizen can have issued to him a Canadian passport. So 
that he acquires two direct rights : one, to enter Canada; the other, to be pro
tected by Canada when he is abroad. Indirectly, however, he acquires other 
rights. He acquires them because he becomes, by the issue of the certificate, 
a British subject. This gives him the franchise, the right to own shares in 
British ships, and I think that if an inquiry were made it would disclose that 
there were other statutory rights conferred upon British subjects. I have not 
had an opportunity to make any research in this respect.

As regards duties, the only one that occurs to me is this, that a British 
subject may be required compulsorily to serve in the military forces of Canada 
if Parliament so enacts. I think there is also a distinction between the position 
of a British subject and an alien with respect to the crime of treason committed 
outside Canada. You remember the case of Roger Casement. He was con
victed of treason, the acts having been committed outside of the United Kingdom, 
in Germany, and it was only because he was a British subject that he could be 
tried in Britain for that offence.

The Chairman : “Lord Haw-Haw” comes under the same category?
Mr. Varcoe: Yes, sir. That is the end of my submission.
The Chairman : AVell, we are certainly grateful to you, Mr. Varcoe, for 

spending this time and assisting us in this rather difficult task that we have 
undertaken. Have some of the committee some questions to ask Mr. Varcoe? 
We have a few minutes yet.
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Hon. Mr. Kinley: Something which has alarmed me for some time now is 
the anxiety in connection with the Civil Service to get a blanket legislation so 
that they can put everybody in the net and keep them there. I have in mind 
what they call the Fish Inspection Bill. This, of course, is not really an inspection 
bill at all but a bill for discipline. Under this bill, if a fisherman is accused of 
something he is deemed to be guilty. The fish inspector arrests him and puts him 
in jail. The fish inspector has all the power in the world. He can seize the fish 
and forbid the sale of it, and do practically whatever he likes about it. Just 
because a man has a bad hoop in a barrel or because he has some bad fish, it 
does not mean he should be able to take the fisherman and put him in jail, 
accusing him of a violation and making him prove himself innocent. That is 
hardly in keeping with what we consider to be our rights.

The Chairman : Mr. Varcoe, is the principle pretty well established that 
a man is innocent until he is proven guilty in our law in Canada?

Mr. Varcoe : There are two or three statutory provisions where the law is 
otherwise. I think Senator Kinley is right about the one he mentioned under the 
Fisheries Act, where the onus is placed upon the defendant to prove that he did 
not commit the violation. I may say that this usually occurs where the accused 
is the only person who knows the facts. That is the general principle. I do 
not say that it is a good principle, but it is the general principle. For example, 
a person is driving a motor car and is charged with doing so without an 
operator’s licence. Now, it becomes quite a task for the police to prove that 
he has not got an operator’s licence. The driver is the man ivho knows that he 
has or has not got the proper licence.

Th Chairman : The law provides that he shall produce it if he is called 
upon to produce it.

Hon. Mr. Petten : Is that not a matter of record?
Mr. Varcoe: Yes, but you might have to search records for weeks. For 

instance, a man might be charged in Mattawa with driving a car without a 
licence, and it would be a rather trivial matter to bring a witness all the way 
from Toronto to Mattawa to prove the licence. Therefore, it is not thought 
unfair in such cases that the onus is put on the person to produce his licence if 
he has got one.

Hon. Mr. Kinley : That is all right because a man either has it or he has 
not got it. That is not the same as the case of the fish inspector. It occurs to 
me that the enforcement of the law should be placed in the hands of intelligent 
people who have been educated in the enforcement of the law. I am thinking 
of such people as the Mounted Police. I do not think it is right, however, to allow 
every fish inspector to go about putting fishermen in jail because they have 
some rotten fish. I do not particularly mind him seizing the fish but just because 
he is a fish inspector I do not think he should be allowed to have a man put in 
jail. That is not justice. You take the poor maritime fishermen along the 
coast. They do not get much out of life but they think that they live in a free 
country, and when you get this sort of enforcement of the law, which is undoubt
edly drastic and unfair, it kind of shakes their whole confidence as to whether 
this is really such a free country after all. It is better for one guilty man to go 
free than for an innocent man to be punished.

Hon. Mr. Grant: It is better for ten guilty men to go free than for one 
innocent man to be convicted.

Hon. Mr. Kinley : Well, put it that way if you wish. I remember saying 
to one departmental official, “This is not fair. You should not do this”. He 
replied, “Oh, well, you can’t get a conviction unless you do it. That is the reason 
it is so effective and so efficient”. Well, that may be so but the liberty of the 
subjects of this country is something to be considered, and I object strenuously
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to this sort of thing. I do not like to see a man presumed guilty until he proves 
his innocence. Our Justice Department is trying to maintain the freedoms 
in this country, but when officials write this sort of law into our statute books 
it infringes upon these very freedoms.

The Chairman: I protested against this Fisheries Bill. I thought it was 
a villainous thing.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: They have the same thing in the Agricultural Act. They 
said, “Well, it has been in the Fisheries Act for ten of fifteen years". 
I maintain that that is no reason it should continue. When I was a young man 
there was only one fish inspector in the whole district and he did all the work. 
Now they have twenty inspectors who can run around arresting people. In the 
old days if they put a man in jail the fishermen would take some action. I have 
seen them throw a Mounted Policeman’s automobile over a cliff. When this 
sort of thing occurs in a fishing district it is bad on the morale of the people and 
for the whole system of government. It is not right to allow officials to over
extend themselves and encroach upon the rights of the people.

The Chairman : Making public officials masters instead of servants of the 
public.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: Yes.
Hon. Mr. Petten: That is exactly the thing I object to.
The Chairman : Thank you very much, Mr. Varcoe, for being with us today. 

I believe we are ready to hear Mr. John Magwood of the Young Men’s Christian 
Association.

Mr. J. M. Magwood : Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, I should like 
to say a word in the way of an introduction. The Y.M.C.A. is in the preliminary 
stages in the consideration of this matter and we have not yet come into grips 
with the details. What I have to present is a letter of the preliminary consider
ations ; it is not a brief. This letter is addressed to Senator Arthur Roebuck, 
Chairman of the Senate Committee on Human Rights and Fundamental Free
doms, Ottawa, Canada.

Honourable Sir,
The Young Adult Program Committee of the National Council of Y.M.C.A.’s 

in Canada, in session in Ottawa, has been authorized to express the views of 
the Canadian Y.M.C.A. upon the proposed Bill of Human Rights and Funda
mental Freedoms. While time did not permit consultation with representative 
and responsible members of a movement with a membership of approximately 
83,000 in 92 associations across Canada prior to the session of the Senate Com
mittee, the principles involved are sufficiently clear to warrant the commitment 
of the Canadian Y.M.C.A. to an endorsement of some form of legislative enact
ment to legalize in Canada the United Nations Declaration and Covenant on 
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms.

As to the form that this enactment should take, the Y.M.C.A. does not at 
the moment feel competent to express itself. No doubt further study will be 
given to the matter of implementation generally, and the question as to whether 
the required amendment to the British North America Act should be passed by 
the Parliament at Westminster, on joint address by the House of Commons and 
Senate, or follow a resolution passed at a Dominion-Provincial conference, or 
be initiated at Ottawa, with or without provincial enabling legislation, following 
an imperial enactment providing for future amendment of the British North 
America Act by the Parliament of Canada.

As to the content of the bill itself, the Y.M.C.A. would like to reserve 
opinion. It is in this area that we propose to consult local Y.M.C.A. groups 
that have the time and interest to explore the ramifications of the matter in
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detail. It is assumed that ample time will be taken, before the final form of 
the bill is settled, to enable full discussion by the widest possible range of 
Canadians to ensure the overwhelming sanction of public opinion without which 
any law is valueless; and also to leave time to work out the constitutional 
problem and to ensure full consideration of the covenant of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms which has still to receive the approval of the Economic 
and Social Council of the United Nations in its final form.

The Y.M.C.A. is grateful to the Senate committee for awakening its sense 
of responsibility to assist in the creating of an informed opinion on this matter 
among Y.M.C.A. members across Canada. And the Y.M.C.A. commends 
Senator Arthur W. Roebuck for his timely exercise of initiative in bringing the 
matter before the bar of Canadian public opinion.

Respectfully submitted,
JOHN M. MAG WOOD,
Chairman, National Young Adult 

Program Committee.

The Chairman : You are giving me more credit than is coming to me, 
Mr. Magwood, but it is very pleasant, and I thank you. Your brief contradicts 
your statement that you have not given much thought to this subject, for in a 
few words you have demonstrated that you have given a good deal of thought 
to it. Your brief will appear in our records and, I can assure you, will have our 
careful consideration.

Now, gentlemen, we have ,the Reverend Dr. Seeley and Dr. E. A. Corbett. 
I would ask them to decide between themselves who should appear first. I see 
that Dr. Seeley is rising, at Dr. Corbett’s suggestion. I would point out again 
that Dr. Seeley is Provost of Trinity College—that is the position from which 
he makes his living—and President of the Civil Liberties Association, of Toronto. 
He does not make any living out of that position, but I take it that it is in that 
second capacity that he appears here today.

Reverend R. S. K. Seeley, D.D., LL.D.: Mr. Chairman, I do not know in 
what capacity I am appearing here.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: Trinity College is connected with the University of 
Toronto?

Dr. Seeley : Yes.
Hon. Mr. Kinley: It is an Anglican College?
Dr. Seeley : Yes.
Mr. Chairman and honourable gentlemen, the Chairman’s remarks raise 

at the outset the point of why I am here, and I wish to make it very clear that 
I am not the official spokesmen of any group of people. I take it that you 
invited me, sir, because I happen to be the President of the Civil Liberties 
Association, but they have already presented their brief to you and it is not 
my purpose to reiterate that brief. It seems to me that I am here in a very 
humble capacity, to try to set- before you some of the ideas that are going on 
in the minds of people connected with various groups in which circles I move, 
because the action of the Senate in setting up a committee on human rights and 
fundamental freedoms is the cause of a great deal of satisfaction both to 
individual citizens and to groups of people. I should like to try to put forward 
the views - of people in three not inconsiderable sections of the community, 
namely, the Christian churches, the universities, and those ordinary citizens 
who have a special care for civil liberties, the kind of citizens who align them
selves with and become members of the Civil Liberties Association.
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I am perfectly aware that representatives of two of these groups have 
presented briefs to you. I know that the Social Service Council of the Church 
of England in Canada has presented a brief to you, and I know that the Civil 
Liberties Association has presented a brief, and I shall make no attempt whatever 
to reiterate the details of their arguments, but rather I shall attempt to 
emphasize the principles which underlie their arguments and to point out why 
it can reasonably be expected that these groups of people would support whole
heartedly any action which is taken by this committee and by the Senate in this 
whole matter of human rights and fundamental freedoms.

First of all, from the point of view of the Christian churches. Here let 
me say that I do not want to make any attempt to preach a sermon to this 
committee, but I thought it might be useful to remind you of the principles on 
which the Christian churches as a whole would support this matter in which you 
are concerned. After all, the vast majority of the population of Canada is 
Christian, at least in name, and the whole ethos of Canadian life is derived 
from the tradition of Christian civilization, and while respect for other religious 
views is essential to the Canadian way of life and is indeed basic to this very 
subject which we are now considering, the fundamental principles on which so 
large a majority of the Canadian population base their lives arc relevant to 
the nature of our Canadian constitution, since in a democratic country, I suppose, 
the constitution must reflect the will of the people.

Now it is indeed on the basis of Christian doctrines and the Christian 
values which have been accepted by our society that we can justify a declaration 
of human rights against those whose systems of thought and whose policies deny 
to the individual any rights of his own. It appears that usually a declaration 
of human rights assumes that human rights are desirable as an axiomatic 
proposition, that it does not go into an inquiry of why it is assumed that 
human rights are desirable. And it appears to us as axiomatic only because 
we have absorbed into our corporate thinking the Christian doctrine of man on 
which those human rights are based. According to this Christian doctrine, every 
individual man is of supreme value in the sight of God, for he is made in the 
image of God, is called to be a child of God and has as his heritage eternal 
life; and every man must therefore have freedom to respond to the call of God 
and be given opportunities whereby the whole of his personality may be fully 
developed to glory of God and in the service of God. Without these elementary 
human rights man cannot use completely and to the full the talents with which 
God has endowed him. For those reasons, you see, a Bill of Rights is consonant 
with Christian principles and would receive the wholehearted support of the 
Christian people of Canada. The areas of freedom which are envisaged by these 
principles have already been set before you in the brief submitted by the 
Department of Social Service of the Church of England in Canada—have 
you had that brief before you yet?

The Chairman: If it has not come before us yet, it will come.
Rev. Seeley : I have seen that brief, and I am not repeating what it says. 

I know if it is not in your hands it will be in your hands.
It quotes from the Lambeth Report. That is the report of the bishops 

of the Anglican communion throughout the world, assembled at Lambeth, in 
1948. The section dealing with human rights gives four general headings as to 
the areas in which human rights should be protected according to Christian 
principles, namely freedom of personal security, freedom of various social and 
economic rights, freedom of speech, discussion and association, and religious 
freedom. That is quoted from the Lambeth Report for convenience but similar 
statements can be found in other declarations which have been made by world 
meetings of churches, such as the meeting at Madras in, I think, 1938. It is 
one of the glories of the Christian church that it has in recent years been ready
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to suffer persecution and martyrdom in certain areas of Europe in defence of 
these fundamental rights where they have not been guaranteed by constitutional 
methods.

It is important to point out that this Christian basis gives the answer to 
one of the major problems which is inherent in this whole question of human 
rights. It is frequently asked whether man’s rights can be defined and assured 
without consideration of man’s duties and responsibilities. This point has been 
touched on in the brief presented by the Association for Civil Liberties which 
quotes Dr. Malik’s defence of the irreducible humanity of man. The Christian 
position would go further. For it maintains that these human rights are basic 
in order that many may have opportunity to achieve his destiny and to respond 
to the purpose of his Creator.

Now it is manifestly impossible for the state which represents people with 
widely diverse views of man’s destiny to include within a bill of rights a 
statement of Human Responsibilities in terms of man’s destiny and purpose. 
That is the task of the church and the church is willing and is indeed compelled 
by its very nature to take up this task as something which is complementary to 
the action of the state. It cannot, however, fulfil this task of setting before man 
his responsibilities unless the freedom to accept these responsibilities is guaranteed 
to man. We envisage then the state and the Christian church working in 
cooperation, the state guaranteeing the fundamental rights of man and the 
church laying before him the responsibilities which issue from these rights. 
Were this committee therefore to recommend the setting up of a bill of rights 
within the constitution, it would be assured of the goodwill of Christian people 
in this Dominion, and it would be safe to assume that the churches would regard 
such a bill as further encouragement to them to discharge their task of 
proclaiming human responsibilities and duties.

Secondly there is another much smaller but nevertheless very influential 
section of the population which would strongly favour the establishment of a 
bill of rights. It is significant that in order to establish a totalitarian regime 
Adolph Hitler found it necessary first of all either to destroy or to silence 
the churches and the universities. The tradition of freedom associated with 
universities is an ancient one, and indeed freedom is integral to the pursuit of 
truth. It is not possible to be faithful in the pursuit of truth in any area of 
knowledge if one is exposed to restrictive pressures. A scholar must be free to 
follow the light of truth without fear of where his investigations will lead him. 
He must also in the pursuit of truth have free access to all the evidence which 
is available in his particular field. In this connection Article 16 of the draft 
articles is of particular interest and significance.

Your attention has already been drawn to the fact that books and periodicals 
have been banned from entry into this country by the Department of National 
Revenue without right of appeal. I am not aware that any literature so far 
banned has been of a nature that would be of value to scholars, but the principle 
here involved is a dangerous one. If literature which is allowed free circulation 
is restricted to literature of a certain kind, or alternatively excludes literature 
of a certain kind, there is no longer any guarantee that our scholars are free 
and unfettered in the pursuit of truth. Moreover, the scholar is under obligation 
to present for the consideration of his students all points of view in order that 
those who are engaged in the pursuit of knowledge may have full opportunity 
of reaching independent conclusions. This involves the right of freedom of 
opinion and expression. There are cases when this freedom has not been 
vouchsafed to those within our universities.

I would not maintain that there have been as yet in this country any 
glaring instances of abuse resulting in the dismissal of feai less scholars. I think 
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it can be maintained that scholars have been penalized for fearless expression 
of opinion and I am sure that there are instances where fear has silenced 
scholars and made them hesitant and unwilling to give voice to their opinions. 
It is not, however, so much as a redress to existing evils that this article or other 
articles are important. It is rather as a safeguard against situations which 
might arise and these not as remote contingencies but as repitition of circum
stances which have arisen in other places.

If our universities were ever allowed to become places which represented 
some particular point of view which was dictated by anything other than a free 
pursuit of truth, the last stronghold of independence would be lost and the 
Dark Ages would again be upon us. It is the experience of centuries that right 
thinking comes as the result of diversity of opinions, or as one eminent scholar 
has put it, truth only emerges out of controversy. Any suggestion that there 
is one set of facts that is true over against all others or any one form of inter
pretation of facts which is right, is clean contrary to the whole stream of 
tradition in higher education. Sir Walter Moberley in his outstanding book 
“The Crisis in the University’’ has spoken of the distinctive responsibility of a 
university to be “a place where the criticism and evaluation of ideas is continually 
being carried forward, where nonsense can be exposed for what it is and where 
the intellectual virtues rooted in sincerity of mind are being fostered and 
transmuted”. Thus if a university is to fulfil its function it may very easily 
find itself in a position where exposing nonsense for what it is involves conflict 
with points of view which the state or some influential body within the state is 
anxious to propagate. Unless the university has complete protection to speak 
fearlessly, the cause of truth must inevitably suffi r. Here again a responsibility 
is involved. Academic freedom does not mean academic licence, although it has 
sometimes been so interpreted. To quote Sir Walter Moberley again, he used 
the phrase “responsible independence”. Freedom is never an absolute thing ; 
it always stands in relation to a higher service. The pursuit of truth lays upons 
the scholar its own standard of integrity. Here again the enforcement of 
responsibility does not seem to me to lie with the state. It is something which a 
university must itself inculcate in its members. It is, however, vain to inculcate 
a sense of unremitting service to truth unless freedom to enlist in that service 
is ensured as an inalienable right.

While these observations which I have made in the main illustrate the 
concern of universities with one particular section of the suggested bill of rights, 
they should also be sufficient to show the concern of universities with all basic 
human rights and freedoms as the essential ingredients of the good life, and 
give assurance of the support of universities to any measure which will ensure 
the safeguarding of these rights and liberties.

In the third place, I would like to say something from the point of view of 
just the ordinary -citizen who is concerned with the civil liberties.. From this 
point of view it seems to me that the most desirable object to secure is the 
elimination of the uncertainty and bewilderment which surrounds the ordinary 
citizen in this regard. As has already been pointed out to your committee, it is 
difficult for the layman to discover from the various scattered sources at his 
disposal, and not at his easy disposal, what his rights as a Canadian citizen are. 
One cannot but be impressed and alarmed by the list of instances cited by the 
Civil Liberties Association of the infringements of.human liberties- which have 
occurred in recent years in this -country. One finds- it impossible to believe that 
these are consistent with any -considered policy of liberty which governs this 
Dominion. Rather they seem to indicate an accumulation of instances of what 
can happen when there is no considered policy clearly and definitely expressed. 
Or more accurately still, it would appear that they are examples of the dangers
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inherent in our decentralized system of government, which, valuable in itself, 
needs as its complement some clear expression of uniform agreement as to the 
basic principles on which our system of government is based.

The ordinary citizen desires to be assured that his worth as a person is the 
fundamental principle from which legislation springs, and that legislation is 
designed to protect his worth from encroachments. Our country is one into 
which many people are seeking entry as a refuge from the infringements of 
personal freedom which they have experienced in their native lands. They 
expect that within our borders they will find freedom to express themselves as 
they -really are, that they will be able to live without fear, and that they will 
be able to pursue their lives independent of particular ideologies and free from 
external pressures. And we have given them cause to expect to find these things, 
because we assert that we are a freedom-loving people, as indeed we are. And 
yet for all the measure of freedom which we enjoy—and you, sir, have remarked 
today that we probably enjoy it in a greater measure than any other country 
in the world—it remains possible for anomalies to arise and injustices to exist, 
and these most frequently, it would seem, among those minorities to which these 
people who are seeking entry to our country must of necessity belong. It is 
true, and we realize that it is true, that these anomalies and injustices are the 
exception rather than the rule; and indeed the majority of our citizenry are 
unaware that they are taking place. But incidents, however few, become prece
dents unless there is some central core of right to which we can appeal. The 
infringements of liberties that go unchecked all increase the total sum of anxiety 
and fear, and thus sap the vitality of the whole population. These things are 
gradual, and they tend to pass unnoticed; but nevertheless it is to my mind 
significant that the infringements of human rights which are most often quoted 
have all occurred within recent years. And the reason for this seems to me to 
be that there have entered into the modem state two new factors that have made 
a radical difference to our mode of thinking and to the nature of government.

We are living in an age when rapid action is becoming increasingly neces
sary. That is one of the characteristics of the scientific age, from which I think 
there is no escape. And when events are in general fast-moving we develop 
almost of necessity the habit of acting without due consultation. We have to act 
too often arbitrarily. And that is the very point at which totalitarianism is 
likely to begin and does begin. It is inevitable that in times of emergency a 
government must impose controls and limitations and act in such a way that 
the minimum of delay is involved. There is to my mind a very real danger lest 
the times in which we live be considered as a permanent period of emergency, 
resulting in the imposition of controls and limitations which become a permanent 
feature of our community life. Against such tendencies there is no real safe
guard but a clear-cut declaration of the inviolable rights of the individual.

The other new factor which has entered into the modern state and altered 
the nature of society is the advent, or rather the increase, of the social services. 
Traditionally the government of a country exists in order to defend the country 
against external aggression and to maintain peace and good order within the 
community. During the last seventy-five years or so we have envisaged the 
government as having further functions than these ; and in particular we have 
looked to it to provide social services and social protections of various kinds ; 
and in large measure or in small we have begun to think in terms of the welfare 
state. Now this kind of social planning undertaken by governments involve, as 
Mr. Hugh MacLennan has pointed out in a recent article, the necessity of placing 
ever-increasing power in the hands of governments, bureaucracies, corporations, 
armies and police . That, I think, is an inevitable tendency, and I doubt if there 
is anv way of increasing the social services of modern society without it. We 
do not in general question the value of these services to the community, though 
we may have differences of opinion as to the extent to which they should be
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developed and the extent to which voluntary social agencies should be thereby 
limited. But nevertheless the dangers involved in these are obvious, and the 
result is that government at all levels is bound to be more and more concerned 
with the private lives of individuals.

If it assumes responsibility for their welfare it can with some justification 
claim some measure of control over their lives. The danger arises when govern
ment in any of its forms tends to exercise the functions of the courts, and when 
in the name of efficiency personal liberties are subordinated to standardized 
practices. It is at this stage that it becomes imperative to have certain rights 
and freedoms before the law expressed in a manner which is uncontrovertible.

The final section of what I have to say is concerned with the question of 
whether a Bill of Rights is the solution to the problems which confront us in the 
maintenance of individual human freedoms. That these should be maintained 
no right thinking person can deny, though the precise extent and nature of 
these freedoms will ever be a matter of dispute. The real difference of opinion 
lies in the manner of their maintenance. Here we fall between the traditions 
of the two great powers that so greatly influence our national life. Great 
Britain has no Bill of Rights; the U.S.A. has. Which patterns should we follow? 
It is perhaps not altogether- true to say that Great Britain has no Bill of 
Rights. It was established early in her nationhood in the form of Magna 
Charta, the spirit of which has become so ingrained in the life of the nation 
that no further declaration has proved necessary. But the positions are not 
entirely similar. The divided powers of government, the heterogeneous nature 
of the population, the vast distances which separate the different parts of our 
country, all create different situations which demand different ways of meeting 
them. To suppose that the mere introduction of a Bill of Rights into our 
Constitution would solve our problems is an attitude of mind against which we 
must set our faces. True freedom cannot be embodied in law and transcends 
legislation. It involves the acceptance by the total community of -common ideals 
and common responsibilities. Nonetheless, it is a fact of experience that law 
has an educative power. Once a law is formulated, people automatically tend 
to adopt its norms and to accept its standards. History has shown, for instance, 
that Declarations of Rights at the time of the French and American Revolutions 
had a profound effect upon subsequent events. Without a program of education 
such a Bill of Rights would lose most of its effective power, but without a 
Declaration backed by legal validity, education by itself has little permanent 
value especially when we take into account the new features of modern com
munity life to wrhich we have already referred.

The World Council of Churches in its inaugural session at Amsterdam in 
1948 had this to say about the jeopardy of freedom:—

The tensions which agitate present day society, both domestic and 
international, threatens the existence of human rights and freedoms. 
Under the necessities of wrar peoples in every free community yielded to 
their governments individual rights which in times of peace they were 
disposed to guard with zealous care. Efforts to recapture the enjoyment 
of personal freedoms encounter various obstacles. When disrupted eco
nomics have followed the devastation of war the preservation of life has 
made unavoidable the continuation and at times the strengthening of 
government controls. The inability of the major victorious powers to 
adjust their differences has cast a shadow over every land. Without 
measurable assurance of a peaceful wmrl-d the traditionally free countries 
are reluctant to return to their accustomed w7ays of freedom. Totalitarian 
governments do little to liberalize their domestic practices and in fact 
seek to extend their view7 of life to foreign lands.
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This is a graphic and I think accurate picture of the rapidity with which 
freedom can be cast out of the life of a nation. Canada today is regarded as a 
nation that can give a lead in international affairs and whose stand against 
totalitarianism is one of the bulwarks of the world forces of democracy. A 
Declaration of Rights is one of the standards by which a nation is judged by 
other nations. The introduction of such a Bill of Rights into the Constitution 
of Canada at this juncture of world affairs would not only be of lasting benefit 
to the Canadian people. It would give fresh hope and courage to those nations 
of the world which love freedom and are threatened by tyranny.

Those, Mr. Chairman, are just some observations which I make about those 
areas of which I have spoken, and I trust that they may be of some value to 
your committee in the expression of opinion of the ordinary citizen.

The Chairman : Thank you, Dr. Seely. You have expressed in noble words 
the thoughts that have been passing through our minds, but which we have not 
expressed as yet in phraseology as you have. You have assisted us very greatly 
and I thank you for coming. I am sure the committee joins with me unanimously 
in my expression of gratitude for your splendid and learned statement. It reflects 
great knowledge and philosophy and will help us in our thinking.

Now, gentlemen, our last witness of to-day is Doctor E. A. Corbett, 
Executive Director of the Canadian Association for Adult Education.

Dr. E. A. Corbett: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, first let me say that 
I consider it a great honour to have been invited to appear before this important 
and distinguished committee. Although I am appearing here as an individual, 
as Senator Roebuck asked me to do, I think it might be helpful if I told you 
just what I am and what I do.

The Chairman : Yes, please.
Dr. Corbett: I have been for the past fourteen years Executive Director 

of the Canadian Association for Adult Education. This organization 
came into existence in 1935 and received its Dominion charter the same year. 
Its purpose is to serve as a national clearing house and co-ordinating agency 
for universities, departments of government and voluntary agencies at work in 
the field of adult education throughout Canada. The society has been supported, 
since its inception, by annual grants from the Carnegie Corporation of New 
York, from provincial Departments of Education and private subscriptions. 
It is now widely accepted throughout Canada, and we have what might be 
called a “People’s University,” with an enrolment of some thirty thousand 
people, receiving weekly supplies of study materials from us on a wide variety 
of subjects.

Adult education has been described as “Imaginative Training for Respons
ible Citizenship.” I believe it can be used as a powerful medium for creating 
the atmosphere in which a democracy can live and work. The methods used in 
adult education are informal and the emphasis is placed on the group rather 
than the individual as a unit of educational experience. For that reason, 
among others, we warmly welcome the appointment of your committee. Articles 
16 and 17 of your terms of reference concerning freedom of assembly, freedom 
of opinion and expression—the right to seek, receive and impart information 
and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers—deal with the very 
life-blood of an organization such as I represent. It was for that reason that 
last year, at a world conference on adult. education called by UNESCO and 
held at Elsinore, North of Copenhagen, in Denmark, at which I was present as 
Canadian representative, delegates from thirty countries unanimously approved 
the United Nations Declaration of Human Rights and pledged our support of a 
world-wide study of its provisions. This action was taken in the firm belief
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that without wide acceptance and of belief in the fundamental freedoms adult 
education as a factor in international understanding and goodwill could not 
possibly function.

There are a number of reasons why I personally believe that.Canada should 
now have a bill of rights embodied in her constitution. I would emphasize, 
and I want it understood that this brief presents my personal views, rather 
than those of the association which I serve. I assure you that I feel certain 
that the thirty or forty thousand people I represent, as members of this associa
tion, would give their support in principle to what I have to say.

First, because in the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights the member nations have found common ground on which to pledge 
their beliefs in those basic human rights which are the foundation of freedom, 
justice and peace in the world. I think Canada should now take action to give 
substance to her acceptance of that declaration of faith and purpose. Canada 
has finally accepted the responsibility for the right to amend her own con
stitution, by providing that a Canadian court shall be her final court of appeal. 
This would therefore be an appropriate time to make explicit those basic 
concepts of freedom of speech, and religion, freedom of assembly and of the 
individual, which are implicit in the British North America Act.

We have plenty of evidence in Canada in the past few years that basic 
rights and freedoms can be threatened. There is no need at this time for me 
to enlarge upon that subject. This committee is well aware what those threats 
are and where they have taken place. I would like, rather, at this time to call 
attention to the main areas in which a constitutional bill of rights for Canada 
would be of incalculable value.

First, in the field of adult education. I think it is true that the world 
educationalists have come to regard this as rather a new medium. I do not like 
the term “adult education”; I prefer public education at the adult level. At 
any rate, it is a medium that has been developed throughout the world within 
the past twenty five years. It has come to be regarded as a necessary element 
in any programme of citizenship training, and as a valuable weapon against 
those subversive ideologies which threaten to destroy the democratic way of life.

The Chairman : Hear, hear.
Dr. Corbett: The capacity of a well organized ably directed programme 

of adult education to awaken and sustain a sense of responsibility for the 
community, and for the nation, has been demonstrated in hundreds of com
munities in Canada in the past years. Most of us have heard, I expect, of 
the famous St. Francis-Xavier programme of adult education. Dr. Coady, of 
St. Francis-Xavier was the great pioneer in this field and is president of the 
association I represent. Dr. Coady was recently called to appear before the 
Economic and Social Council of the United Nations to describe the way some 
100,000 fishermen and farm people of the Maritime provinces have found 
economic security and have mastered their economic destiny through a well 
directed programme of education for economic and social action. The story of 
improved schools, better medical services, community cooperation in programmes 
of self help through group study, group thinking and group action, is too long 
to recite here. But it can readily be seen that for this kind of activity there 
must be no barriers to assembly, exchange of opinion, interchange of study 
materials, books and films and other aids to learning. Senator Rupert Davies, 
speaking in the Senate last year said:

Let me for a few moments deal with Article 16 in which I am parti
cularly interested. AVe were told that in 1948, under tariff item 1201, 
forty-five books and twenty-three newspapers and magazines were refused 
entry into Canada, while in 1949, eighty-one books and twenty-two 
magazines and newspapers were refused admission.



HUMAN RIGHTS 137

I object strongly, he said, to any officer of. the Department of 
National Revenue in charge of censorship, deciding what are the right 
and proper books for Canadians to read. This is a most dangerous power 
to put into the hands of an anonymous member or members; of a depart
ment of the government.

I feel that Article 16 of the proposed Bill of Rights seeks to deal with this 
problem of censorship, and I want to point out how necessary such a human 
right and fundamental freedom as that outlined in Article 16 is in Canada.

I recognize the need for a measure of censorship of books and films but 
share the conviction of Senator Davies that such censorship must be in the 
hands of highly qualified people.

The Chairman: But they should be thoroughly guided by certain general 
principles as well?

Dr. Corbett: Yes.
The Chairman : And not left to the caprice or opinion of the censor.
Dr. Corbett : That is correct. In passing, it may be of interest to you to 

know that at the general meeting of UNESCO which will be held in Florence, 
beginning May 22nd this year, there will be submitted an international agree
ment on the importation of educational, scientific and cultural materials. In 
introducing this subject- Dr. Torres Bodet says:

No protectionism could be more short sighted than that which 
“protects” the minds of people from the ideas and attainments of the 
rest of the world.

Under this agreement, if approved—and it probably will be—organizations 
would be free from tariff restrictions in importing films, film strips, microfilms 
and recordings of an educational, scientific or cultural character. Newsreels 
would also be allowed to enter duty-free.

In addition, scientific instruments or apparatus for educational or research 
purposes, if they are not manufactured in the importing country and if consigned 
to approved institutions, would be allowed to move across frontiers without 
payment of duty. If this is done, it would seem to me to solve the problem.

Hon. Mr. Gladstone: Do you say that the censorship of magazines and 
books is not in competent hands?

Dr. Corbett: I am quoting Senator Davies, who apparently seemed to 
think it was not in competent hands.

Hon. Mr. Gladstone: I would question just where you might get more 
competent hands; however, I would think probably there should be provision 
for an appeal.

Dr. Corbett: Yes. Our point is that wherever the authority lies it should 
be in the hands of people who are well qualified to impose the censorship.

Hon. Mr. Gladstone: I think it is generally admitted that certain maga
zines and books seek admission, which are now properly barred.

Dr. Corbett: Yes.
Hon. Mr. Kinley: Do you still think censorship is salutory?
Dr. Corbett : Yes, in many instances.
Hon. Mr. Kinley : It keeps out the dirt. You skim everything to keep the 

dirt out of it.
Dr. Corbett: Yes, exactly.
Hon, Mr. Kinley: I do not know why the minds of the people should be 

exposed to dirt.
Dr. Corbett: Yes, I approve of a measure of censorship.
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The Chairman : A person who goes to a moving picture should not run the 
risk of seeing an off colour film.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: Especially the children.
The Chairman : A man should be free to send his children to a theatre, 

knowing that some adult lias had the responsibility for looking at the pro
gramme, and assure him that it was all right. The problem is that we have not 
laid down principles to guide the censor. He should be permitted to remove 
the filth from films and things of that kind. However, I am not prepared to 
say what the principles should he. He should not be a dictator in any sense; 
he should be a social administrator and have a clear statement as to his duties.

Hon. Mr. Gladstone: I am not a “movie fan”, and I am not competent 
to pass on whether the censorship of the movies is satisfactory.

Dr. Corbett : I think in the main the provincial censorship of movies is 
in pretty sound hands.

Hen. Mr. Gladstone : But I would question the censorship as regards the 
publicity that is permitted, both over the entrances to motion picture houses 
and in the newspapers.

The Chairman : Excuse us, Doctor, for this interruption.
Dr. Corbett : I was going on to say that it would, in my opinion, be of 

great value in carrying out nation-wide adult education activities if we could 
place in the hands of our people a bill of rights which is something more than 
a statement of moral principles, a document with teeth in it, carrying with it 
the assurance that the basic human freedoms in Canada cannot be violated. 
It may be pointed out that since freedom of speech, of peaceable assembly, of 
discussion are already implicit in our constitution, and since reasonable limits 
on their abuse are already defined by statute and judicial decision, there is no 
need to state explicitly in a constitutional document what is already implicit 
in the British North America Act. Yet all of these freedoms have been in some 
measure restricted or abridged by actions of federal, provincial and municipal 
governments in Canada. In the past, experience has shown that what is only 
implicit is often endangered by lack of recognition and of wide public acceptance. 
An explicit statement of rights and freedoms could be used in cur field of edu
cation to create public recognition of and support for the fundamental bases of 
our society, and would make it possible to educate the public conscience against 
infringement of those rights in local communities and in the nation. Over 
one hundred and fifty years ago Tom Paine pointed out that “he that would 
make his own liberty secure must guard even his enemy from oppression, for 
if he violates this duty he establishes a precedent that will reach unto himself”. 
Last year the joint parliamentary committee in its report stated that “respect 
for, and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms depends in 
the last analysis upon the convictions, character and spirit of the people.” 
That is very true.

The Chairman : That was my phrase that I contributed.
Dr. Corbett : Yes. I think you are borne out by the English philosopher 

Bosanquet, who once said that “a right is a claim in which the community will 
support you. If the community will not support you in your claim, it will not 
help to call it a right.”

It is profoundly true that a bill of rights can only be a living thing when 
its terms are so sharply outlined in the public consciousness, that it reveals 
itself in the conduct of all the citizens. It is my opinion that such a sharp 
articulation of fundamental freedoms in the minds and the lives of Canadian 
people can only be secured when the terms of those freedoms are written into
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our constitution in such a way that the wayfaring man though a fool may not 
err therein. In this connection may I quote from a recent speech by the Hon. 
L. B. Pearson.

In our search for the hidden enemy of our ways of life, we must be 
careful not to impose regulations or create prejudices which shackle the 
spirit of enquiry by spreading the impression that anything unorthodox 
or enterprising or imaginative is suspect. If we reduce the high adven
ture of investigation to the level of a search in a shallow stagnant 
pool, we shall soon retreat into the dark recesses of torpid and absolute 
conformity which is the stuff from which the totalitarian police state is 
made. This retreat will be certainly assisted if public opinion ties 
the label of “dangerous” or “red” to everyone who may one have attended 
a luncheon or the League for Peace and Freedom, or played basketball 
at High School with the young Radicals. It is easy in a democratic 
state to become the victims of our fears, just as it is easy—frighteningly 
easy—to become the victim of our apathy and indifference.

The obligation of those in authority is to strike a balance which 
corresponds to the realities of the situation. In striking the balance 
between freedom and security, in the difficult days ahead, I hope that we 
shall have enough good sense and enough faith in our own institutions 
to act so that the confidence, the self respect, the initiative and the devo
tion to duty of our civil servants will be strengthened and encouraged.

The Chairman : That was when he was arguing against the “witch-hunts.”
Dr. Corbett: Yes.
Hon. Mr. Klnley: As i regards your definition of “a right”, perhaps the 

definition of “right” is “only what the majority says is right.”
Dr. Cobbett: Well, that is what we were discussing.
Hon. Mr. Kinley: I am reminded of a story. A young student at Normal 

School, a very eccentric fellow, was told by his teacher to do an exercise on 
the board. When he had finished it the teacher said “That is not right”. He 
said “Oh, yes, it is right.” The teacher said to the class “Hands up," all who 
say he is right”, and the class by a vote decided that he was not right. He 
said “It is the first time I saw a mathematical problem proved by votes.” .

Mr. Corbett: May I now submit and discuss certain reasons why I think 
this would be important in the field of elementary and secondary education. 
It seems to me that it is even more important than it is in our field of public 
adult education. I mean, it is more important that the teachers in Canadian 
schools and colleges should have in their hands a document designed to safe
guard those basic rights which we accept vaguely but are never sure about.

I believe that by making such a document available throughout our whole 
school system, elementary and secondary, we would enrich and confirm in the 
minds of our young people the true meaning of citizenship in a country of free 
people.

It would strengthen the instinct inherent in a child's mind for justice and 
fair dealing. It would strengthen their pride of country and at the same time 
that feeling of oneness with the young people of other countries which organiza
tions like the Junior Red Cross have done so much to cultivate. They would then 
have documentary proof that Canada had taken her place with the United 
Nations in a universal declaration of human rights.

It is often objected that the American Bill of Rights has been of doubtful 
value in the United States. But certainly educationists in that country are 
agreed that it has been one of the greatest single sources in uniting the American 
people, and in establishing respect for human rights in that country.
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Professor Chaffee of Harvard University recently stated that “more than 
any other part of the constitution the ten amendments which make up the 
Bill of Rights are the precious possession of private citizens. They came out 
of the people and were made directly for their benefit”.

Mr. Justice Douglas of the Supreme Court of the United States, states 
that the Bill of Rights is a constant reminder to the American people that once 
they strike down the expression of ideas that they happen to despise they have 
forged an instrument for the suppression of ideas they cherish.

The American Bill of Rights is a part of the teaching equipment of every 
American teacher. It is basic in their philosophy of education; framed copies 
hang in thousands of their schools.

The Chairman: Did you ever see a copy of the British North America 
Act hanging up in any school?

Dr. Corbett: No, I never have. The citizenship ceremonies which welcome 
the coming of age of high school student are characterized by a solemn reminder 
of the significance of the Bill of Rights in the life of a free people.

Hon. Mr. Gladstone: On some occasion could you put on the record a 
copy of the American Bill of Rights? It is not generally known.

The Chairman (Addressing the Secretary) : Will you take care of that?
Dr. Corbett: More than anything else the Bill of Rights has contributed 

to that fierce pride of country which characterizes American young people. 
Sometimes we find that pride a little offensive, but it is there. This whole 
book is devoted to the techniques and types of programs for this day of 
celebration which is held throughout the United States, when students who 
have come of age are welcome to citizenship, and you see enormous floats, with 
the Bill of Rights written on the side, going down the street, and every child 
who is welcomed that day into citizenship is presented with a copy of the 
Bill of Rights.

The Chairman : With the permission of the committee a copy of the Bill of 
Rights will be later placed on the record, (See Appendix to this report.)

Dr. Corbett: Dr. A. C. Lewis, Dean of the Ontario College of Education, 
stated recently that a Canadian Bill of Rights embodying the principles set 
forth in the United Nations Declaration would be one of the most important 
documents that could be made available to Canadian schools. “The use of it,” 
he said, “as an educational weapon against totalitarian ideologies and as a 
medium for the teaching of the basic principles of democracy in the schools 
would contribute to national pride and unity. It would also contribute to 
inter-racial goodwill among racial groups in our schools.”

I am convinced that there are thousands of young Canadians for whom a 
clear Declaration in Canada’s own constitution would constitute a source of 
inspiration and of education.

It would help teachers to emphasize those things which distinguish us from 
the world of repression and fear. Around such a document a far greater sense 
of nationhood and a firmer faith in democracy would take shape.

Another subject that I deal with briefly is immigration.
It is altogether likely that during the next decade we will see large numbers 

of immigrants from many parts of the world take up their homes here as new 
Canadians. It is suggested here that a constitutional Bill of Rights would be of 
immense value in our naturalization proceedings and in teaching the strangers 
within our gates the full implications of Canadian citizenship.

People coming to us from central European countries come with the high 
hope in their hearts that here in this new land they will find the freedoms, the 
rights, denied to them at home. It would give these people a sense of security 
to know that the rights of minorities in Canada are protected by law.
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Last year the Association I represent prepared and published for this 
government a book called “This Is Canada”. Fifty thousand of these were 
distributed in the English language, 10,000 in Polish, 10,000 in Dutch, 10,000 in 
Ukrainian, 10,000 in German and French.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: You have not got one in Hungarian?
Dr. Corbett: No.
I think it would have been valuable in preparing such a book for wide 

distribution in central European countries if we had been able in that section 
dealing with law in Canada to include a Bill of Rights. It would have added 
enormously to the value of the book, if in their own language those safeguards 
were made clear to prospective immigrants. In the meantime officials of the 
Citizenship Branch of the Department of State, social workers in our cities, and 
educationists engaged in teaching immigrants the language and ways of the 
country, find that these people whom we are trying to welcome as future 
Canadian citizens are so terrified, so inhibited as a result of abuse at home that 
they are afraid to take part in many of the social or educational activities of 
the communities in which they have settled. They are afraid of the police, they 
are afraid of officials. On the one hand they are welcomed by officials and 
employment agencies and are warned that unless they can support themselves 
completely they will be deported.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: They come with that fear in their minds but they soon 
get over it.

Dr. Corbett: I hope so. Recently a Toronto paper, the Globe and Mail, 
of February 2, 1950, carried this editorial which I think is worth quoting.

An anomaly in the status of recently arrived refugees from Europe is 
becoming both more apparent and more troublesome. Canada has 
officially adopted the designation of new Canadians for those who gener
ally have been known as DP’s, but the preferred name has little signifi
cance except in a human sense. Most of them are placed, on a kind of 
one year’s probation as workers, but their legal status as non-citizen new 
Canadians does not change until five years has been spent in the country.

In earlier days when Europeans came to Canada as immigrants they 
retained their foreign citizenship until they were admitted to full status 
here. The new Canadians now here have no foreign citizenship. They 
have no Canadian citizenship. Those among them who have good educa
tion, and1 passably good English, arc under a specially troublesome handi
cap; they find that entry into their own professions and business is 
delayed until naturalization is granted. They find virtually insuperable 
barriers in arranging normal mortgage accommodation to supplement their 
own funds and savings in the buying of business of their own. Their 
ability to enter into most kinds of contracts is prejudiced.

All of them have passed through a double screening—that of the 
International Refugee Organization, and that of a competent body of 
Canadian officials. Their aggregate number is not so great that they 
cannot be easily checked. The suggestion is made that so soon as they 
have shown reliability and the promise of becoming good Canadians they 
should be given some kind of interim status which would at once more 
closely identify them with the country of their adoption and dignify their 
position as individuals. The “first papers” which prospective new citizens 
are able to get in the United States provide these advantages.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: Well, they get a letter certifying that they can per
manently stay in Canada.

Dr. Corbett : If they can support themselves.
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Hon. Mr. Kinley: I have been having DP’s work for me. They have to 
work on the farm for one year. It used to be for a period of two years. After 
a year’s service they get a certificate from the Labour Department stating they 
have established themselves to the extent that they can stay in Canada.

The Chairman: I do not think that letter states they can stay in Canada. 
What it says is that they have carried out their obligation.

Hon. Mr. Kinley: And that they are considered as being able to stay in 
Canada.

Dr. Corbett : Only if they can continue to support themselves.
Hon. Mr. Kinley: Oh, that is true.
The Chairman : And do not go into an institution for a nervous disorder 

or something of that kind.
Hon. Mr. Kinley : They can secure residency after a year. They are given 

a document and they are able to go and work where they like. This, of course, 
is after they have fulfilled the requirements of their contract for the one-year 
period. I had a Pole with me for two years and then he was free to go and 
get a job where he liked. I have a Hungarian and his wife with him. He is 
highly educated and was a member of the constabulary in his own country. 
He is farming now and although he is not a good farmer he is a fine person, 
and in the near future he will be able to go and get a job where he likes.

Dr. Corbett : Yes, but the terrifying thing is that if he does not get a job 
he is sent back.

The Chairman : Well, he is liable to be deported.
Hon. Mr. Kinley : Where would they deport him to?
Dr. Corbett : Back home.
The Chairman : I think that if you searched the records you will find that 

there have been very few deportations of these people.
Hon. Mr. Kinley: Very few.
Dr. Corbett: That is the fear they have.
At the present time under the Department of Education in Ontario over 

15,000 Central Europeans are being taught our language and the customs of 
our country. The teachers of -these classes are all agreed that it would be of 
great value if Canadian laws, especially those dealing with the Canadian way 
of life and the rights Canadians accept as a matter of course, were written down 
so clearly and simply that even a frightened immigrant could not misinterpret 
them.

Many of the objections to a constitutional Bill of Rights are based on 
the fear that it might provide opportunities for dissemination of communist 
propaganda by depriving the state of the weapons it needs to protect itself 
against communist activities. These arguments overlook the fact that the most 
effective weapon against communism is understanding of, and pride in the things 
which distinguish a free society from a communist society. One of the reasons 
why communism can make no headway in Great Britain and in the Scandinavian 
countries, for example, is that the level of public education for adults is higher 
in those countries than anywhere else in the world.

Here in Canada the organization I represent has sponsored for the past 
ten years, in co-operation with the CBC and the Canadian Federation of 
Agriculture, a radio program called the National Farm Radio Forum. Some 
30,000 farm people meet in groups of from fifteen to twenty every Monday 
night in farm homes to listen to the broadcast and carry on a discussion of 
the subject afterwards. During those ten years I have seen hundreds of 
Canadian communities rediscover their sense of neighborhood, and develop a 
civic consciousness which has resulted in better homes, better schools, and 
better medical care; and develop also a new sense of responsibility to the
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community and the nation, as a result of group thinking, group planning and 
group action. I do not believe that subversive ideologies could find acceptance 
among people who have in this way found new pride in their communities 
and in their country.

For these reasons I do not agree that a constitutional Bill of Rights would 
deprive the state of a needed weapon against communism. I feel it would give 
an edge and temper to that weapon and make it more effective.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, may I express the opinion that by subscribing 
to the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Canada has 
undertaken to promote effective recognition and observance of human rights 
and fundamental freedoms in its territory. I feel that Canada would enhance 
her standing as one of the great nations of the world if she now proceeded to 
implement this undertaking by inscribing in her constitution a Bill of Human 
Rights to which every person in Canada is entitled.

Hon. Mr. Kinley : I think you will agree, Dr. Corbett, that the American 
Bill of Rights is a bulwark of free enterprise? The right to own property and 
the right to the pursuit of happiness, for instance, are set out in the American 
Bill of Rights.

Dr. Corbett : Yes.
The Chairman: Are there any other questions? If not, I will now thank 

you, Dr. Corbett, on behalf of the committee, for the excellent statement you 
have presented to us. It is obviously the result of a wealth of experience, and 
it gives us a new slant, for the subject of adult education has not been referred 
to, at least not in any detail, in any of the other briefs. You have helped us 
greatly, and again I thank you.

The committee adjourned until Tuesday, May 2, 1950, at 10.30 a.m.



APPENDIX “A”

Constitution of the United States

Amendments

(The first 10 Amendments were adopted December 15, 1791, and form what 
is known as the “Bill of Rights”)

Amendment 1
Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or 

prohibiting the free exercise thereof ; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of 
the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the 
Government for a redress of grievances.

Amendment 2
A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, 

the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed.

Amendment 3
No Soldier shall, in time of peace be quartered in any house, without the 

consent of the Owner, nor in time of war, but in a manner to be prescribed by 
law.

Amendment 4
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and 

effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no 
Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, 
and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things 
to be seized.

Amendment 5
No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, 

unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising 
in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of 
War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to 
be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal 
case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, 
without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken "for public use, 
without just compensation.

Amendment 6
In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy 

and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime 
shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained 
by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation ; to be 
confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for 
obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his 
defence.
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Amendment 7
In Suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty 

dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, 
shall be otherwise re-examined in any Court of the United States, than according 
to the rules of the common law.

Amendment 8
Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel 

and unusual punishments inflicted.

Amendment 9
The enumeration in the Constitution, of certain rights, shall not be construed 

to deny or disparage others retained by the people.

Amendment 10
The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor 

prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to 
the people.
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